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OPINION AND ORDER


BY THE COMMISSION:


	Before the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (Commission) for consideration and disposition are the Exceptions (Exceptions) of Mayer Krain (Complainant) and Choice Energy, LLC (Choice Energy, Respondent) filed on January 4, 2018, and January 5, 2018, respectively, to the Initial Decision (I.D.) of Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Martha Guhl, which was issued on December 26, 2017, in the above-captioned proceeding.  The Complainant filed Replies to Exceptions on January 10, 2018.[footnoteRef:1]  For the reasons stated below, we will grant the Complainant’s Exceptions; deny, in part, and grant, in limited part, Choice Energy’s Exceptions; and modify the ALJ’s Initial Decision, as set forth herein. [1: 		The Complainant entitled his Replies to Exceptions as “Exceptions of Mayer Krain, Complainant.”  However, it is apparent from the filing’s contents as well as its subtitle “Discussion of the Choice Energy’s Exceptions,” that the Complainant’s document is a reply to Choice Energy’s Exceptions, and we will consider it as such.] 


[bookmark: OLE_LINK1][bookmark: OLE_LINK2]History of the Proceeding

On December 15, 2016, the Complainant filed a Formal Complaint (Complaint) against Choice Energy alleging that Choice Energy had been calling his home telephone at least once daily for an extended period after he requested to have his telephone number removed from its calling list.  The Complainant requested that the telephone calls be stopped.

Choice Energy filed an Answer on January 11, 2017, in which it denied the main averments of the Complaint.  Choice Energy asserted that the Complainant’s telephone number was not on any state or federal “do not call” list, and that as soon as the Complaint was filed, the Complainant’s telephone number was removed from Choice Energy’s call list.

On April 19, 2017, the ALJ issued a Prehearing Order in which she informed the parties about the hearing scheduled for May 25, 2017, and of the applicable procedures of the proceeding.  Choice Energy was informed that as a limited liability company, it needed an attorney licensed to practice law in Pennsylvania or attorneys admitted Pro Hac Vice to represent it at the hearing.  I.D. at 2.

By Order dated May 18, 2017, the ALJ denied Choice Energy’s request to participate in a telephonic hearing in this case.

The hearing convened as scheduled on May 25, 2017.  The Complainant appeared pro se and testified on his own behalf.  The Complainant offered four exhibits which were admitted into evidence.  Ms. Gabriella A. Figueroa was present on behalf of Choice Energy but was not permitted to participate in the proceeding because she failed to complete her request to participate pro hac vice.  No attorney licensed to practice law in Pennsylvania had entered their appearance on behalf of Choice Energy.

Upon receipt of the thirty-page transcript on June 19, 2017, the ALJ issued an interim order closing the record.

On June 21, 2017, Michael A Gruin, Esquire[footnoteRef:2] filed Motions for Admission Pro Hac Vice (Motions) pursuant to 52 Pa. Code §§ 1.22 and 1.23 and Pa. B.A.R. Rule 301(a) on behalf of Murray E. Bevan, Esquire, and Gabrielle Figueroa, Esquire, requesting that both be admitted for purposes of representing Choice Energy in this proceeding.  On June 30, 2017, the Complainant generally requested that the Motions be denied.  By Order dated December 13, 2017, the ALJ granted the Motions and admitted Mr. Bevan and Ms. Figueroa pro hac vice to represent Choice Energy. [2: 		Mr. Gruin entered his appearance on behalf of Choice Energy on the same date.] 


		On December 26, 2017, the Commission issued the Initial Decision of ALJ Guhl, in which the ALJ sustained the Complaint and ordered Choice Energy to pay a civil penalty of $1,000.

	As previously noted, the Complainant and Choice Energy, respectively, filed Exceptions to the Initial Decision on January 4, 2018, and January 5, 2018.  The Complainant filed Replies to Exceptions on January 10, 2018.

Discussion

As the proponent of a rule or order, the Complainant in this proceeding bears the burden of proof pursuant to Section 332(a) of the Public Utility Code (Code), 66 Pa. C.S. § 332(a).  To establish a sufficient case and satisfy the burden of proof, the Complainant must show that the Respondent is responsible or accountable for the problem described in the Complaint.  Patterson v. The Bell Telephone Company of Pennsylvania, 72 Pa. P.U.C. 196 (1990).  Such a showing must be by a preponderance of the evidence.  Samuel J. Lansberry, Inc. v. Pa. PUC, 578 A.2d 600 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1990), alloc. denied, 529 Pa. 654, 602 A.2d 863 (1992).  That is, the Complainant’s evidence must be more convincing, by even the smallest amount, than that presented by the Respondent.  Se-Ling Hosiery, Inc. v. Margulies, 364 Pa. 45, 70 A.2d 854 (1950).  Additionally, this Commission’s decision must be supported by substantial evidence in the record.  More is required than a mere trace of evidence or a suspicion of the existence of a fact sought to be established.  Norfolk & Western Ry. Co. v. Pa. PUC, 489 Pa. 109, 413 A.2d 1037 (1980).

Upon the presentation by a complainant of evidence sufficient to initially satisfy the burden of proof, the burden of going forward with the evidence to rebut the evidence of the customer shifts to the respondent.  If the evidence presented by the respondent is of co-equal value or “weight,” the burden of proof has not been satisfied. The complainant now has to provide some additional evidence to rebut that of the respondent.  Burleson v. Pa. PUC, 443 A.2d 1373 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1982), aff’d, 501 Pa. 433, 461 A.2d 1234 (1983).

While the burden of going forward with the evidence may shift back and forth during a proceeding, the burden of proof never shifts.  The burden of proof always remains on the party seeking affirmative relief from the Commission.  Milkie v. Pa. PUC, 768 A.2d 1217 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2001).

ALJ Guhl made eleven Findings of Fact and reached twelve Conclusions of Law.  I.D. at 3-4, 12-13.  The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are incorporated herein by reference and are adopted without comment unless they are either expressly or by necessary implication rejected or modified by this Opinion and Order.

Before addressing the Exceptions, we note that any issue or Exception that we do not specifically delineate shall be deemed to have been duly considered and denied without further discussion.  The Commission is not required to consider expressly or at length each contention or argument raised by the parties.  Consolidated Rail Corp. v. Pa. PUC, 625 A.2d 741 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1993); also see, generally, University of Pennsylvania v. Pa. PUC, 485 A.2d 1217 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1984). 

ALJ’s Initial Decision

[bookmark: _Hlk525218193]In her Initial Decision, the ALJ first addressed the applicable rules and regulations pertaining to the Complaint.  The ALJ noted that Section 111.10(a) of the Commission’s Regulations, 52 Pa. Code § 111.10(a), requires that a supplier and its agents shall comply with regulations that govern marketing, consumer protection and telemarketing sales, including consumer protection regulations.  The ALJ also noted that Section 111.10(a)(3) of the Commission’s Regulations, 52 Pa. Code § 111.10(a)(3), requires a supplier and its agents to comply with the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act (Telemarketing Act), 15 U.S.C. §§ 6101-6108, and 16 CFR Part 310 (relating to telemarketing sales rule).

The ALJ observed that under the Commission’s Regulations an agent who contacts customers by telephone shall, after greeting the customer, immediately identify himself by name, identify the supplier the agent represents and the reason for the call.  The agent shall state that he is not working for and is independent of the local distribution company or another supplier.  I.D. at 6 (citing 52 Pa. Code § 111.10(b)).

The ALJ also observed that the federal regulations related to the Telemarketing Act indicate that excessive telephone calls are considered an abusive telemarking practice.  I.D. at 6 (citing 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(b)).  Specifically, it is a violation of the Telemarketing Act to repeatedly call a person with the intent to abuse, annoy or harass the person at the telephone number called.  I.D. at 6 (citing 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(b)(1)(i)).  Further, it is a violation of the Telemarketing Act to deny or interfere with a person’s right to be placed on a do not call list for the company.  I.D. at 6 (citing 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(b)(1)(ii)).

The ALJ reviewed the Complainant’s allegation that Choice Energy violated the consumer protection laws under 52 Pa. Code § 111.10(a).  The ALJ’s introduction of the discussion on this issue is instructive and we will quote it in full:

In support of his claim, Mr. Krain testified that in November and December 2016, he received numerous telephone calls from the Respondent at his home telephone number. Tr. 12-13, 16; Complainant Exh. 1.  He testified that the telephone calls came from several telephone numbers, including 908-428-4714, 610-628-9792, 732-807-5614, and 201-603-2805, which were identified as “Choice Energy” on the caller ID on his telephone. Tr. 14, 17; Complainant Exh. 1.  Mr. Krain indicated that he requested telephone calls stop, and his home telephone number be removed from the Respondent’s call list. Tr. 13, 19, 20.  The Complainant also requested to speak to a supervisor on at least three occasions to resolve the issue. Tr. 16.  Mr. Krain testified that he continued to receive telephone calls from Choice after his request. Tr. 13-14.  Mr. Krain also noted that in the phone calls, the Respondent’s telemarketer did not properly identify themselves or the purpose of the call. Tr. 20.  Lastly, Mr. Krain testified that the phone calls ended after December 28, 2016, after he filed his Formal Complaint with the Commission. Tr. 14, 21; Complainant Exh. 1.


I.D. at 6.

	The ALJ concluded that the Complainant met his burden of proof to establish that Choice Energy violated the Commission’s Regulations regarding telemarketing practices and the Federal Telemarketing Act based on the following testimony that he found to be credible:

(1)	Choice Energy called him at his home phone from several different telephone numbers identified as “Choice Energy” on his Caller ID on numerous occasions in November and December 2016 (Tr. at 12-13, 14, 16 and 17, Complainant Exh. 1);

(2)	Choice Energy’s telemarketers did not properly identify themselves in the calls or the purposes of the calls (Tr. at 20); 

(3)	Choice Energy failed to respond to his requests to stop calling and to remove his telephone number from their list (Tr. 13, 19, 20); and 

(4)	Choice Energy stopped making the telephone calls after December 28, 2016, after the Complainant filed his Formal Complaint with the Commission (Tr. at 14, 21; Complainant Exh 1).

The ALJ noted that Choice Energy did not present any evidence to rebut the Complainant’s credible testimony and, based on her findings, the ALJ concluded that the Respondent violated different sections of the Commission’s Telemarketing Regulations at 52 Pa. Code § 111.10 which, inter alia, requires a supplier and its agents to comply with the federal Telemarketing Act.

	Finally, the ALJ addressed whether a civil penalty should be assessed against Choice Energy’s based on its violations.  The ALJ noted that pursuant to Section 3301 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 3301, the Commission may impose a maximum civil penalty of $1,000 per day for each violation of the Code, its Regulations or its Orders.  The ALJ evaluated the facts in this proceeding under the Commission’s Policy Statement at 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201(c) (Civil Penalty Policy Statement),[footnoteRef:3] which sets forth ten factors that the Commission may consider in evaluating whether a civil penalty for violating a Commission order, regulation or statute is appropriate.  Based on her analysis, the ALJ concluded that a total civil penalty of $1,000 against Choice Energy was appropriate in this case.  This penalty was comprised of two $500 penalties – one for each month in November 2016 and December 2016 when the Complainant received misleading telephone calls and Choice Energy failed to stop the marketing calls and place the Complainant’s telephone number on a do-not-call list.  I.D. at 7-11. [3: 	Those factors include, but are not limited to the following: whether the violation was intentional or negligent, the compliance history of the regulated entity which committed the violation, the amount necessary to deter future violations, and past Commission decisions in similar situations.] 


Exceptions, Replies and Disposition

		Choice Energy’s first Exception concerns Finding of Fact No. 5 that “[t]he Complainant requested that he stop receiving telephone calls, and his home telephone number be removed from the Respondent’s call list.”  Tr. 13, 19, 20.  Choice Energy submits that this was the sole remedy that the Complainant requested in his Complaint and that Choice Energy complied with the Complainant’s request to remove the Complainant’s telephone number from its call list on December 28, 2016, when it received the Complaint from the Commission.

		The Complainant replies that he filed his Complaint two weeks prior to December 28, 2016, after his verbal requests to stop calling him were unheeded.  Thus, the Complainant asserts that Choice Energy should have complied with his request to remove his home telephone number from Choice Energy’s call list at the time he first made his verbal request and prior to when he filed his Complaint.  R.Exc. at 1.

	Based upon our review of the record, we agree with the Complainant that Choice Energy should have honored his original request to be placed on Choice Energy’s do-not-call list before the Complainant filed his Complaint with the Commission.  The record in this proceeding shows that the Complainant received numerous telephone calls from Choice Energy in November and December 2016, Tr. at 12-13, 16; Complainant Exh. 1, and that those calls came from several telephone numbers identified as Choice Energy on the Complainant’s Caller ID, Tr. at 13-22; Complainant Exh. 1.  The record also shows that the telephone calls ended after December 28, 2016, after the Complainant filed his Complaint with the Commission.[footnoteRef:4]  Tr. at 14, 21; Complainant Exh. 1.  Although we acknowledge that Choice Energy did eventually place the Complainant on its do-not-call list on December 28, 2016, Choice Energy should have responded to the Complainant’s original request and removed him from the calling list at that time.  Accordingly, this Exception is denied. [4: 		We note that the Complaint was served on Choice Energy on December 23, 2016.] 


	In its second Exception, Choice Energy compares the ALJ’s evaluation of the first and third factors of the Commission’s Civil Penalty Policy Statement that she used to support her ruling to impose a $1,000 penalty on Choice Energy.

		The ALJ made the following evaluations regarding the first and third factors:

[bookmark: _Hlk526424622](1)	[Choice Energy’s] failure to comply with Mr. Krain’s request and immediately stop telemarketing calls to his home telephone and place him on a do not call list is not a serious offense.  It appears that it was more of an administrative or technical error, rather than willful fraud or misrepresentation on the part of the Respondent.  As such, a lower civil penalty is warranted.
*   *   *

(3)	This was a litigated case.  [Choice Energy’s] failure to act when Mr. Krain requested that the telephone calls stop and his name be placed on a do not call list is deemed intentional.  The agent also failed to clearly identify itself and [Choice Energy] and their relationship to electric distribution company.  When an agent acting on behalf of [Choice Energy] violates a Commission regulation, [Choice
[bookmark: _Hlk526424451]Energy] is responsible.  Such conduct is intentional and supports imposing a higher civil penalty.


I.D. at 9-10.

[bookmark: _Hlk526425160]		Choice Energy argues the ALJ’s conclusions in the first factor and the third factor are materially inconsistent because the ALJ used the same cause to reach two different conclusions in each of the factors.  Choice Energy agrees with the ALJ’s evaluation in the first factor where the ALJ found Choice Energy’s failure to comply with the Complainant’s request to immediately stop telemarketing calls to his home telephone and place him on a do-not-call list is not a serious offense but more of an administrative or technical error which warrants a lower penalty.  Choice Energy contends that after finding that the above action of Choice Energy is not a serious offense in her analysis of factor one, she used the same cause to reach a different conclusion for the third factor for which she found that Choice Energy’s action was intentional and warrants a higher penalty.

	Choice Energy submits that it did place the Complainant’s number on its internal do-not-call list as soon as it received the Formal Complaint on December 28, 2016.  Thus, Choice Energy avers that it could not have intentionally failed to place the Complainant’s number on its internal do-not-call list and simultaneously commit an administrative or technical error.

[bookmark: _Hlk526426568]	After reviewing the record in this proceeding, we are of the opinion that the ALJ’s determination regarding the first factor that “a lower civil penalty is warranted” because “[i]t appears that it was more of an administrative or technical error, rather than willful fraud or misrepresentation on the part of the Respondent,” is not supported by the record.  Rather, we find the conduct of Choice Energy to be of a serious nature because the record demonstrates that on numerous occasions the Complainant asked Choice Energy not to call him and to place his telephone number on the do-not-call list.  We take seriously EGS’ violations of the Commission’s Regulations regarding marketing and sales practices, as well as violations of the federal Telemarketing Act.  As the Complainant explained, Choice Energy never honored his request because he continued to receive telephone calls from Choice Energy as demonstrated in the Complainant’s Exhibit 1 which includes copies of photographs of his Caller ID displaying various telephone numbers that belonged to Choice Energy.[footnoteRef:5]  Tr. at 13-14.  The Complainant testified that Choice Energy never removed his telephone number until after Choice Energy received his Complaint.  In this regard, the Complainant testified as follows: [5: 		The ALJ’s Finding of Fact No. 4 states: “The telephone calls came from several telephone numbers, including 908-428-4714, 610-628-9792, 732-807-5614 and 201-603-2805, which were identified as ‘Choice Energy’ on the Caller ID on the Complainant’s telephone.”  I.D. at 3 (citing Tr. at 14, 17; Complainant Exh. 1).] 


At that time on my Caller-ID, there were just two phone numbers and that’s what was in the original complaint.  The 908-428-4714, and the 610-628-9792.  I even spoke to a couple of them, I asked for their supervisor and they said, you know, they would take care of it, it would take a couple of days to come off their calling list.  I thought that would be fine, but it kept on continuing.

I even got one person from the telemarketer telling me that she was going to call me repeadily [sic] all night long, very fresh and very arrogant.  So, like I said before, that was the reason for the complaint.


Tr. at 14.  For these reasons, any inconsistency Choice Energy perceived in the ALJ’s findings is no longer at issue, and we shall deny Choice Energy’s second Exception.  

	In its third and final Exception, Choice Energy disagrees with the ALJ’s finding that a higher penalty was warranted based on her evaluation of the tenth factor in the Commission’s Civil Penalty Policy Statement that pertains to “other relevant factors.”  With regard to the tenth factor, the ALJ determined that this factor supports a higher civil penalty because “[t]here is no evidence in the record that [Choice Energy] was properly recording the telephone calls to the Complainant,” and “[t]here is nothing in the record to rebut Mr. Krain’s assertions.”  Choice Energy argues that the recording of telemarketing calls was not part of the original complaint or part of the record in this case, and the ruling of a higher penalty for this factor is both unfair and unwarranted.

	We agree with Choice Energy that there is no evidence in the record regarding this matter and we do not find this as sufficient reason to assess a higher penalty under this criterion.  For this reason, we shall grant Choice Energy’s Exception on this issue in limited part.  Nevertheless, as discussed, infra, our determination to grant this Exception does not deter us from our decision to assess a higher penalty against Choice Energy under other pertinent factors addressing the appropriate magnitude of the penalty.

	The Complainant’s Exceptions consist of a one-page type written letter in which he contends that the ALJ erred in the amount of the penalty she directed in her Initial Decision based on her evaluation of the third, eighth, ninth and tenth factors contained in the Commission’s Civil Penalty Policy Statement.  The Complainant requests that the Commission assess a civil penalty greater than the $1,000 that the ALJ found to be appropriate; however, the Complainant did not suggest a specific amount in support of his Exception.  Complainant Exc. at 1.

	Based on our review of the record in this case, we agree with the Complainant that a civil penalty greater than the $1,000 recommended by the ALJ is warranted.  For the reasons explained below, we find that a $5,000 civil penalty is more appropriate under the circumstances in this case.  Historically, this Commission has not hesitated to enforce its Regulations regarding marketing and sales practices.  We have imposed civil penalties on EGSs that violate our Regulations as well as the federal Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act, 15 U.S.C. §§6101-6108, and 16 CFR Part 310.[footnoteRef:6]  The penalties are determined upon evaluation of certain factors in litigated and settled cases to determine if a fine is appropriate, consistent with our Civil Penalty Policy Statement.  Those factors include, but are not limited to, whether the violation was intentional or negligent, the compliance history of the regulated entity which committed the violation, the amount necessary to deter future violations, and past Commission decisions in similar situations.  In addition, we issued further guidance and reminders to all EGSs because of an escalation of specific marketing practices that were not in compliance with our Regulations.[footnoteRef:7] [6: 	Hiko v. Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, 163 A.3d 1079 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2017), appeal granted, 176 A.3d 235 (Pa. 2017).  The Commonwealth Court affirmed the Commission’s adoption of the ALJ’s Initial Decision ordering Hiko to pay a civil penalty of approximately $1.8 million for various violations of the Commission’s regulations and because Hiko’s conduct was, inter alia, intentional, which resulted in a higher penalty.  Id. at 31.]  [7: 	See, Secretarial Letter Re: Guidance on Chapter 11I Residential Supplier Marketing Regulations, Docket No. L-2010-2208332, issued December 8, 2017.  As indicated by the Commission in December 2017, suppliers, and their agents are expected to comply with certain standards and practices as required by regulation when engaged in any sales and marketing activities involving residential customers including immediately identifying himself by name, identify the supplier the agent represents and the reason for the telephone call.  In addition, the Commission advised suppliers to respect state and federal “Do Not Call” lists and to honor individual requests by potential customers to not be contacted again by a supplier or its agent.] 


	In accordance with our Civil Penalty Policy Statement at 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201, we have imposed civil penalties on EGSs that engage in marketing practices that violate our Regulations, including failure to promptly place consumers on a do-not-call list.  In I&E v. Great American Power, LLC, Docket No. M-2016-2536806 (Order entered September 15, 2016), we imposed a penalty of $18,000 pursuant to a settlement agreement which we approved that acknowledged that on seventeen occasions, the outside vendor’s telemarketing sales representatives contracted by Great American Power LLC (Great American) exhibited unacceptable or questionable marketing practices on behalf of Great American.  The Settlement also acknowledged the corrective action taken by Great American and the implementation of revised operating procedures.

	In this case, the ALJ noted, pursuant to Section 3301 of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S. §3301, that the Commission may impose a maximum civil penalty of $1,000 per day per violation of the Code, its Regulations or its Orders. The ALJ evaluated the facts in this proceeding under our Civil Penalty Policy Statement at 52 Pa. Code §69.1201(c) which sets forth ten factors that the Commission may consider in evaluating whether a civil penalty for violating a Commission order, regulation or statute is appropriate.  As noted, the ALJ determined that a total civil penalty of $1,000 against Choice Energy, comprised of two $500 penalties for the months of November and December 2016, was appropriate in this case.  Based on the record evidence in this case, we disagree.

	First, upon our review of the record, the Complainant testified that he received dozens of calls over a two-month period, receiving at times multiple calls per day from Choice Energy.  Tr. at 14-16.  The Complainant indicated that on at least three occasions he spoke with a supervisor and asked to be put on Choice Energy’s do-not-call list.  Tr. at 13.  This is in addition to his many requests to be removed from the telemarketing list where he did not request to speak to a supervisor.  He was assured this had been completed.  However, the calls continued, and at one point, one of the supervisors threatened to “call him repeatedly, all night long.”  Tr. at 16.  The Complainant also indicated that he blocked the number from which Choice Energy was calling in an attempt to stop the calls.  However, the Complainant indicated that calls began coming from different numbers, all identified by his Caller ID as Choice Energy LLC, and later confirmed as such by representatives of Choice Energy.  The Complainant further explained that callers did not identify themselves and led him to believe they worked for PECO, which he would have believed had it not been for the Caller ID indicating that the caller was Choice Energy LLC.  Complainant Exh. 1.

	Based upon our review of the record, we agree with the Complainant that Choice Energy did not honor his original request to be placed on its do-not-call list before the Complainant filed his Complaint with the Commission.  The record evidence shows that Choice Energy did not properly identify itself during at least the initial phone call, which is a violation of Section 111.10(b) of the Commission’s Regulations, 52 Pa. Code § 111.10(b).  In addition, the record evidence demonstrates that Choice Energy clearly continued to violate the Section 111.10(b) Regulation by placing numerous calls to the Complainant during the months of November and December 2016 and in which its representatives did not properly identify Choice Energy and its relationship to the electric distribution company.  Thus, because the record clearly demonstrates that Choice Energy engaged in abusive telemarketing and intentional misconduct by misrepresenting itself to the Complainant on numerous occasions over a period of two months, we believe the violations committed by Choice Energy warrant a higher penalty in this case.  A conservative reading of the record makes it clear that there were dozens of phone calls, each with multiple violations and clear abusive telemarketing behavior.  Therefore, in order to deter future misconduct by Choice Energy, we shall increase the civil penalty in this proceeding to $5,000, consistent with Section 3301 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 3301, and the ALJ’s evaluation of the ten civil penalty factors in our Policy Statement at 52 Pa. Code § 69.1201,[footnoteRef:8] as modified by this Opinion and Order. [8: 		I.D. at 9-11.] 


Conclusion

	Based upon the forgoing discussion, we shall grant the Complainant’s Exceptions; deny in part, and grant, in limited part, Choice Energy’s Exceptions; and modify the Initial Decision, by increasing the civil penalty against Choice Energy, from $1,000 to $5,000, consistent with this Opinion and Order; THEREFORE,

IT IS ORDERED:

1. [bookmark: _Hlk529200528]That the Exceptions of Mayer Krain, filed on January 4, 2018, to the Initial Decision of Administrative Law Judge Marta Guhl, that was issued on December 26, 2017, at Docket No. C-2016-2581006, are granted, consistent with this Opinion and Order.

2. That the Exceptions of Choice Energy, LLC, filed on January 5, 2018, to the Initial Decision of Administrative Law Judge Marta Guhl, that was issued on December 26, 2017, at Docket No. C-2016-2581006, are denied, in part, and granted, in limited part, consistent with this Opinion and Order.

3. That the Initial Decision of Administrative Law Judge Marta Guhl issued on December 26, 2017, at Docket No. C-2016-2581006, is modified, consistent with this Opinion and Order.

4. That the Complaint of Mayer Krain against Choice Energy, LLC at Docket No. C-2016-2581006 is sustained, consistent with this Opinion and Order.

5. That within thirty (30) days of the date of entry of this Opinion and Order, Choice Energy, LLC shall remit Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000), payable by certified check or money order, to “Commonwealth of Pennsylvania” with the docket number of this proceeding listed, and sent to:

			Rosemary Chiavetta, Secretary
			Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission
			Commonwealth Keystone Building
			400 North Street
			Harrisburg, PA 17120

6. That a copy of this Opinion and Order be served upon the Financial and Assessment Chief, Office of Administrative Services.

7. That Choice Energy, LLC cease and desist from further violations of the Public Utility Code and the Commission’s Regulations.

8. That upon receipt of the payment of $5,000 by Choice Energy, LLC, as directed by Ordering Paragraph No. 5 above, the proceeding at Docket No. C‑2016-2581006 be marked closed. 

[image: ]BY THE COMMISSION,


[bookmark: _GoBack]

Rosemary Chiavetta
Secretary

(SEAL)

ORDER ADOPTED:  October 25, 2018

ORDER ENTERED:  November 15, 2018 
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